FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/20/2024 11:54 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO.

Court of Appeals, Division II No. 596601-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Blake Huegel,

Petitioner,

Case #: 1037180

v.

State of Washington Department of Social and Health Services,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Benjamin Justus LYBECK PEDREIRA & JUSTUS, PLLC 7900 SE 28th Street Mercer Island, WA 98040 Phone: (206) 687-7805

Fax: (206) 230-7791 ben@lpjustus.com

Attorneys for Petitioner

I. INTRODUCTION

This case presents a question of law of substantial public interest upon which the lower courts are divided. Blake Huegel worked at an Adult Family Home (AFH) that was owned and managed by Huegel's brother, Cameron. One AFH resident was W.S., a 90-year-old man with advanced dementia who had a habit of getting out of bed without calling for assistance, falling down and getting hurt. As part of W.S.'s family's efforts to manage his behaviors, they had a specialized assessment for bed rails done, and W.S.'s physician entered an order for bed rails. After a second bed rail was installed, W.S. nonetheless got out of bed and fell again. Unfortunately, he suffered an occult subdural hematoma and died days later.

Despite Huegel's reasonable reliance on representations from W.S.'s daughter and legal representative that the bed rails had been authorized, DSHS imposed a finding of "abuse" via "improper use of restraint" under the Abuse of Vulnerable Adults

Act (AVAA). Such findings present gravely serious consequences for Huegel and many other caregivers, who are placed on a public registry for life, foreclosing the possibility of future employment in many occupations and settings.

The plain language of the AVAA provides that any finding of abuse requires that a caregiver *knowingly* engage in "intentional, *willful* or reckless action or inaction that *inflicts injury*, *unreasonable confinement*, *intimidation*, *or punishment* on a vulnerable adult." And an "improper use of restraint" requires an "*inappropriate*" use of restraints. Had the dissenting opinion from the Court of Appeals below been controlling, these sound principles would have held, and Huegel would have been vindicated.

Most unfortunately for Huegel, the Court of Appeals majority instead construed the statute such that it allowed for a finding of abuse against Huegel based on "unreasonable confinement" even though, as the dissent below put it, "...there is no indication in the record that Huegel knew that installation

of the lower bed rail was 'unreasonable.' " In addition, as was also noted by the dissent, although the definition of "improper use of restraint" requires an "inappropriate" use, the majority found abuse absent "...a finding of fact or conclusion of law that Huegel knowingly used an inappropriate mechanical restraint." Remarkably, even as it affirmed the abuse finding, the majority admitted that "[p]ermanent disqualification from caring for vulnerable adults is an exceptional consequence for a mistake such as this one," and described the case as a "tragic accident."

Considering the career-ending consequences of abuse findings, the decision below has a substantial public impact upon the rights of scores of vulnerable adults and caregivers, and it is imperative that this Court provide guidance to lower courts applying the abuse provision of RCW 74.34.020 in future cases. Moreover, the Court of Appeals' construction of the AVAA renders superfluous multiple aspects of the definitions of "abuse" and "improper use of restraint," and it leads to the absurd result whereby Huegel was subjected to the permanent stigma of an

abuse finding because of well-intentioned conduct that the Court of Appeals ultimately recognized to be a "mistake". It also stands in conflict with several other Court of Appeals decisions regarding the standards of abuse. This Court should grant review and reverse the Court of Appeals.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Blake Huegel, Appellant below ("Huegel"), asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision that is designated in Part III of this petition.

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Huegel requests review of the November 21, 2024, decision of the Court of Appeals, Division Two, affirming a DSHS finding that he abused a vulnerable adult in violation of Chapter 74.34 RCW. A copy of the decision is included in the appendix hereto.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether this Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals' construction of the AVAA presents a question of substantial public interest?

Whether this Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals decision below is in conflict with other Court of Appeals decisions regarding the construction of the AVAA?

Whether this Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals' construction of the AVAA conflicts with this Court's statutory construction precedents?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Huegel's brother, Cameron Huegel, was the designated "provider" and operator of an Adult Family Home (AFH) in Battle Ground, WA known as Vintage Years. Verbatim Report of Proceedings (hereinafter "RP"), at 175-176, 212. Huegel had operated other AFHs but not Vintage Years. RP 175-176. Huegel worked occasionally at Vintage Years, typically in an "admin" role rather than as a caregiver. RP 212-214, 229-230.

In October 2019, the alleged victim, W.S., was admitted as a resident of Vintage Years. Original Agency Record (hereinafter "AR"), at 281. Stephen Slack (W.S.'s son) and Polly Little (W.S.'s daughter) were legal representatives of W.S. AR 260, 281; RP 177, 189, 200-201.

Prior to his admission to Vintage Years, W.S. fell from a riding lawn mower at his home and suffered serious injuries. AR 261, 281; RP 194, 196. At the time of his admission W.S. was 90 years old and suffered advanced dementia. AR 281. W.S. underwent a Long-Term Care Assessment on October 22, 2019 (hereinafter the "October Assessment"). *See* AR 259-280. According to the October Assessment, W.S. was "...trying to get out of bed at times because he has been disoriented since his fall." AR 275. As to bed positioning, "[h]e is able to move and change positions if needed." AR 272.

On December 2, 2019, W.S. fell when attempting to get out of bed without assistance, suffering a broken hip. *Id.* After surgery and rehabilitation, W.S. was discharged back to Vintage Years in January 2020. *Id.*

The terms "bed rail" and "side rail" are synonymous. RP 43. A "partial" or "half" bed rail is approximately three feet long. *Id.* A bed may have two partial bed rails on one side: an "upper" bed rail at the top of the bed and a "lower" bed rail near the foot

of the bed. RP 43-44. When upper and lower partial bed rails are attached to a standard hospital bed, there is still an approximate one and one-half foot gap between the upper and lower bed rails. *Id.*

As a DSHS investigator later testified, there are several potential benefits of bed rails for AFH residents, including their use in bed positioning; residents "also can use the half side rail as a steadier, enabler to help while they're going from a lying to sitting position, and then also going from a sitting to standing position, holding on to something that's steady." RP 47-48.

On December 20, 2019, W.S. had a "Bed Rail Assessment" conducted by a nurse and signed by Cameron and Ms. Little. *See* AR 195-197; RP 106-107. The Bed Rail Assessment noted that it was requested "for [W.S.'s] safety and mobility," and it identified several factors "that contribute to the resident's need to use side rail(s)." AR 195. The Bed Rail Assessment explained "the risks of injury or death related to side rail use," which risks were assumed by Ms. Little, who directed

that "I want to have the following side rail(s) in place: *Both upper*." AR 196 (emphasis added). Huegel was not involved in the Bed Rail Assessment. RP 173, 176.

The October Assessment had listed "bed rail" amongst W.S.'s "Special Equipment." *See* AR 272. Following the Bed Rail Assessment, Huegel installed upper bed rails on W.S.'s bed. RP 173.

W.S. had another Long-Term Care Assessment on January 9, 2020 (hereinafter the "January Assessment"). *See* AR 291-315. Changes from the October Assessment included that W.S. "[d]oes not ambulate presently since fall." RP 307. The January Assessment still listed "Bed rails" amongst W.S.'s "special equipment." AR 304.

On January 15, 2020, W.S. was seen by his physician, Gregory Hallas, MD, for follow-up after his rehabilitation. AR

¹ Ms. Little later testified that she believed that the Bed Rail Assessment addressed both upper and lower bed rails. *See* RP 197.

199. In his assessment, Dr. Hallas included "Durable medical equipment ordered: Wheelchair, hoyer, *bed rails*." AR 201 (emphasis added). Dr. Hallas' "Instructions" included "Bed rails to improve mobility." AR 214. Dr. Hallas also ordered certain medication changes for W.S.'s behaviors. AR 201.

On February 10, 2020, Dr. Hallas' clinic received from Vintage Years a fax reporting worsening behaviors of W.S. and stating "[a]lso...we need a bed rail order faxed to us as soon as possible, please." AR 216. This request set off a discussion regarding bed rails between Dr. Hallas, his staff and a Vintage Years caregiver, Deanna Williams, which began on February 12, 2020. This discussion was mostly internal to the clinic, and by the time of W.S.'s fatal fall it remained ambiguous and inconclusive.

Ms. Little told Huegel and others that she had obtained a "doctor's order" authorizing bed rails and presented the document to Vintage Years. RP 189, 198-199. Ms. Little purchased lower bed rails and delivered them to Vintage Years.

RP 189. On February 12, 2020, someone installed the lower bed rails on W.S.'s bed.²

That same night, W.S. fell from his bed, but no one witnessed the fall. AR 350. When later asked about the cause of W.S.'s fall, APS investigator Taylor Bonnett testified as follows:

Q. Ms. Bonnett, based on the information you gathered during your investigation, were you ever able to determine if Mr. W.S. climbed over the bed rails and fell, if he tried to squeeze between the upper and lower bed rail and fell, or if his fall was caused by some other course of action?

A. I don't know (inaudible), but based on the information that I gathered from Ms. Deanna Williams as well as the EMTs, it was either -- it was determined that either Mr. W.S. fell trying to get over the bed rails or he squeezed -- he squeezed through the upper and lower bed rails, but I do -- I know that I concluded at one point -- and I believe it's noted that -- that he may have been too weak to actually get himself over. So if I were to make an educated understanding of how he fell, it would have been through.

² At the underlying hearing, the parties contested who installed the lower bed rails. DSHS argued that Huegel admitted to installing them; Huegel denied doing so, explaining that he was confused during interviews with DSHS staff about whether they were referring to the lower or upper rails. *See*, *generally*, RP. For purposes of this petition for review, Huegel does not contest the Board's finding that he installed the lower rails.

RP 123 (emphasis added).

An extensive hospital evaluation was done that night, but no acute injury was found and W.S. was soon returned to Vintage Years. AR 357. Unfortunately, on February 15, 2020, W.S. was found unresponsive and sent to the emergency room, where he was diagnosed with subdural hematoma and seizure. AR 375, 391. After consulting with hospital staff, Mr. Slack elected hospice care for W.S., who died on February 22, 2020. AR 236, 258.

DSHS's Residential Care Services (RCS) investigated the events described above. *See* AR 316-321. On March 6, 2020, RCS cited Vintage Years for several AFH regulatory violations. AR 322-334.

On February 19, 2021, DSHS/APS notified Huegel by letter that he had been subjected to a substantiated finding of abuse pursuant to Chapter 74.34 RCW, specifically citing an "improper use of restraint." AR 129-131. The cited basis for the finding is as follows:

On February 12, 2020, while being the owner and paid caregiver of a licensed adult family home, you installed a second bedrail on the alleged victim's (AV's) bed which was not medically authorized. You installed this second bedrail after the AV's physician denied the request to install it, telling you that it increased risk of injury. The AV fell through the bed rail. The AV is a resident of the adult family home.

AR 129.

Huegel timely appealed the February 19, 2021, finding. AR 134-139. A hearing on the appeal was conducted by ALJ Christopher Westby on January 4, 2022. After the hearing, ALJ Westby affirmed the DSHS finding of abuse pursuant to a March 7, 2022, Initial Order entered under Docket No. 03-2021-LIC-03127. See AR 61-99.

On March 28, 2022, Huegel filed a Petition for Review regarding the Initial Order. AR 59. On April 4, 2022, DSHS filed a Response to the Petition for Review. AR 53-57. On May 3, 2022, the DSHS Board of Appeals ("Board") issued its Final Order. *See* AR 1-49.

On June 1, 2022, Huegel filed a petition with the Clark

County Superior Court seeking judicial review of the Final Order. Clerk's Papers ("CP") 1-59. Briefing was filed, and a hearing on the petition was held before Judge Emily Sheldrick on August 28, 2023. *See* Report of Proceedings, August 28, 2023, Vol. 1. On September 28, 2023, the Superior Court entered an order affirming all the Board's findings of fact and conclusions of law. CP 132-143. On October 10, 2023, Huegel timely filed a notice of appeal as to the Superior Court's order.

After briefing was filed, but without oral argument, on November 21, 2024, the Court of Appeals issued an unpublished opinion affirming the Board's decision.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. This Court Should Accept Review Because Huegel's Case Presents a Question of Substantial Public Interest.

This Court should accept Huegel's petition for review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4) because his case presents a question of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. This Court has said that a "decision that has the potential

to affect several proceedings in the lower courts may warrant review as an issue of substantial public interest if review will avoid unnecessary litigation and confusion on a common issue." *In re Pers. Restraint of Flippo*, 185 Wn.2d 1032, 380 P.3d 413 (2016); *see also State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). Cases that address the interpretation of an important statute in a context not limited to its facts are typically considered worthy of review based on their potential to affect the public interest. *In re Pers. Restraint of Mines*, 146 Wn.2d 279, 285, 45 P.3d 535 (2002). And this Court has previously held that "suspected abuse of a nursing home patient" is a matter of public concern. *White v. State*, 131 Wn.2d 1, 11, 929 P.2d 396 (1997).

Huegel's case presents a question of first impression that defines the limits of a caregiver's liability under the "abuse" provision of the Abuse of Vulnerable Adults Act (AVAA). This Court has previously provided guidance as to what constitutes "neglect" under RCW 74.34.020. *See Raven v. Dep't of Social and Health Services*, 177 Wn.2d 804, 306 P.3d 920 (2013). But

there is a dearth of authority on the meaning of the term "abuse" under the AVAA, including its sub-category at issue here, "improper use of restraint".

More importantly, a finding of abuse is professionally disqualifying for the person charged since they are placed on a permanent DSHS "registry" of abuse/neglect "perpetrators". RCW 74.39A.056(3); WAC 388-103-0170. Placement on the registry prevents the person's future employment in a position or holding a license that involves the care of vulnerable adults or children or from working or volunteering in a position giving them unsupervised access to vulnerable adults or children. RCW 74.39A.056(2); WAC 388-76-10120(3)-10180(1); RCW 26.44.100(2)(c), .125(2)(e); WAC 388-06A-0110.

As such, the Court of Appeals has held that constitutional rights are implicated in DSHS abuse/neglect findings and related proceedings since it is "clearly established that State action that imposes a stigma that alters an individual's eligibility to exercise rights under state law or to work in a chosen field implicates

protected liberty interests." Ryan v. Dep't of Social & Health Servs., 171 Wn. App. 454, 471-472, 287 P.3d 629 (2012) (citing Ritter v. Bd. of Comm'rs, 96 Wn.2d 503, 511, 637 P.2d 940 (1981) (interest in standing and associations in the community is protected by the Fourteenth Amendment, from state's charge (citing Bd. of Regents v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564, 573, 92 S. Ct. 2701, 33 L. Ed. 2d 548 (1972) (reputational harm must be coupled with impairment of rights and opportunities under state law))); Erickson v. United States ex rel. Dep't of Health & Human Servs., 67 F.3d 858, 863 (9th Cir. 1995) (protectable liberty interest in serving as a participating health care provider under Medicare could be violated by state publication of erroneous disqualifying facts); Dittman v. California, 191 F.3d 1020, 1029 (9th Cir. 1999) (characterizing the liberty interest in pursuit of one's occupation or profession across a broad range of lawful occupations as "'well-recognized'" (quoting Wedges/Ledges of Cal., Inc. v. City of Phoenix, 24 F.3d 56, 65 (9th Cir. 1994)))).

The need for these liberty interests to be adequately

protected through adjudicatory proceedings is heightened in view of a recent decision of the Court of Appeals holding that, under existing DSHS regulations, AFH caregivers such as Huegel who are placed on the DSHS registry have no right to later petition for removal from it. *See Romero v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 30 Wn. App. 2d 323, 544 P.3d 1083 (2024). As a result, "DSHS regulations permanently disqualify the nursing assistants [who had worked in AFHs] from working with vulnerable adults by making it impossible for them to be removed from the vulnerable adult abuse registry." *Romero*, 30 Wn. App. 2d at 344 (alteration supplied).

The *Romero* Court's decision issued despite its expressing serious concern that the current DSHS regulatory regime regarding its registry entails potential due process violations. *Id.*, at 343-344. The Court of Appeals decision below recognized this problem as well, admitting that "[p]ermanent disqualification from caring for vulnerable adults is an exceptional consequence for a mistake such as this one," and

noting that this problem is "worthy of legislative or Department consideration in light of cases like this one." Slip op., at 27-28. But, even as these problems have now been recognized for years, no legislative action has been taken to ameliorate the severe harms that abuse/neglect findings impose upon Huegel and many other similarly situated long-term caregivers.

A decision in this case would have a substantial public impact upon the rights of scores of vulnerable adults and caregivers alike, and it is therefore important for this Court to provide guidance to lower courts applying the abuse provision of RCW 74.34.020 in future cases.

B. The Court of Appeals Decision Below is in Conflict with other Court of Appeals Decisions regarding the Definition of Abuse.

When there are conflicts between divisions of the Court of Appeals, they are resolved by review before the Washington Supreme Court. *In re Pers. Restraint of Arnold*, 190 Wn.2d 136, 410 P.3d 1133 (2018). The Court of Appeals decision here conflicts with several prior decisions from Division Three.

As an initial matter, it is no moment that the decision below is unpublished. *See*, *e.g.*, *Comm'r. v. McCoy*, 484 U.S. 3, 7, 108 S. Ct. 217, 98 L. Ed. 2d 2 (1987) ("[T]he fact that the Court of Appeals' order under challenge here is unpublished carries no weight in [the Court's] decision to review the case.") In Washington, courts and litigants may cite unpublished opinions to show that a legal issue is so well-settled that it does not warrant a published ruling, *State v. Hixson*, 2023 Wash. App. LEXIS 1450, at *11 n.8 (July 31, 2023) (unpublished), or for estoppel or res judicata purposes. *Johnson v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 126 Wn. App. 510, 520 n.7, 108 P.3d 1273 (2005).

Any finding of abuse under the AVAA requires "intentional, willful or reckless action or inaction that inflicts injury, unreasonable confinement, intimidation, or punishment on a vulnerable adult." RCW 74.34.020(2) (emphasis added)³.

³ The Court of Appeals decision below generally refers to "former" RCW 74.34.020, apparently because the statute was amended after events at issue here to add to the definition of "abuse" the words "intentional" and "reckless," in addition to the

The AVAA's definition of "improper use of restraint" is subsumed within the broader definition of "abuse". *Id.* "Improper use of restraint" includes "the *inappropriate* use of . . . mechanical restraints . . . in a manner that: . . . (ii) is not medically authorized." RCW 74.34.020(2)(e) (emphasis added).

Before the decision below, the Court of Appeals had rejected past arguments of DSHS intended to relive itself of the burden of proving an intent to cause harm in connection with allegations of abuse. In *Crosswhite v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 197 Wn. App. 539, 389 P.3d 731 (2017), the Court held that "[t]he Department's position that only the actor's conduct, not her intent, needs to be nonaccidental is contrary to *Brown*, in which this court held that 'the definition of "abuse" ... require[s]

pre-existing term "willful". See Laws of 2021, Ch. 215, sec. 162. However, there was never any allegation by DSHS or conclusion by the Board that Huegel's conduct was "reckless", rather than willful. Moreover, the definition of "improper use of restraint" was unchanged by the amendment. See id. Huegel submits that it is therefore immaterial to the issues raised by his petition for review.

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