FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/18/2025 2:39 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

NO. 1037180

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BLAKE HUEGEL,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF SOCIAL AND HEALTH SERVICES,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

NICHOLAS W. BROWN Attorney General

COURTNEY LYON Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 43226 PO Box 40124 Olympia, WA 98504-0124 (360) 586-6565 Courtney.Lyon@atg.wa.gov OID #91021

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

Finally, this appeal is particularized and fact-based and does not involve any issue of substantial public interest warranting review as required by RAP 13.4(b)(4). Mr. Huegel argues a finding of abuse impacts Mr. Huegel's due process

rights because he would be placed on the Vulnerable Adults Abuse Registry, which would prevent him from unsupervised access to vulnerable adults or children. While the consequences of an abuse finding are no doubt significant for Mr. Huegel (as the Legislature intended), but the added personal significance of the decision for Mr. Huegel does not transform it into one affecting more than just his personal interest, rather than a general public interest. Thus, review should be denied under RAP 13.4(b)(4), because Mr. Huegel has failed to show any substantial issue of public interest.

Because Mr. Huegel has not satisfied any criteria under RAP 13.4(b), the Court should deny Mr. Huegel's petition for review.

A. The Court of Appeals' Opinion is Consistent with Other Court of Appeals Cases Involving the Interpretation of Improper Restraint of RCW 74.34.020(2)(e)

The Court of Appeals analysis was consistent with other Court of Appeals Division III cases in its interpretation of abuse through the use of improper restraint under RCW 74.34.020(2)(e). Pursuant to Former RCW 74.34.020(2)³, "abuse" is a "willful action or inaction that inflicts injury, unreasonable confinement, intimidation, or punishment on a vulnerable adult." (Emphasis added). Unreasonable confinement includes "improper use of restraint against a vulnerable adult," which is the "inappropriate use of chemical, physical, or mechanical restraints for convenience or discipline, or in a manner that . . . is not medically authorized." Former RCW 74.34.020(2)(e)(ii) (emphasis added). Under Former RCW 74.34.020(15), a "mechanical restraint" is "any device attached or adjacent to the vulnerable adult's body that [they] cannot easily remove that restricts freedom of movement or normal access to [their] body." In Brown, the Court of Appeals Division III found, "[b]oth the definition of "abuse" and "physical abuse" require a willful action to inflict injury," but the

³ In 2022, the Legislature changed the abuse definition under RCW 74.34.020(2) to include a mens rea requirement in accordance with the holding of *Crosswhite v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 197 Wn. App. 539, 544, 398 P.3d 731 (2017).

Court specifically went on to immediately state "[f]urther, 'abuse' may entail 'unreasonable' confinement." *Brown v. Dep't* of Soc. & Health Servs., 145 Wn. App. 177, 183, 185 P.3d 1210 (2008). In *Crosswhite*, Court of Appeals Division III reversed the Department's finding of abuse because "the statutory definition of 'abuse' was not met by the Department's evidence, which failed to demonstrate that Ms. Crosswhite's actions knowingly inflicted injury, unreasonable confinement, intimidation, *or* punishment." *Crosswhite v. Dep't of Soc.* & Health Servs., 197 Wn. App. 539, 544, 398 P.3d 731 (2017) (emphasis added).

Contrary to Mr. Huegel's argument, the Court of Appeals' decision below did consider the mens rea requirement that Mr. Huegel installed the lower bed rail when he knew it was not medically approved and knew it would unreasonably confine W.S. Petition For Rev. at 21-22; Appendix A at 22-23. Specifically, the Court of Appeals' decision found pursuant to *Crosswhite*, that: [k] nowingly' applies to all material elements of the offense: the individual doing the act must know that the action is confinement and that it is unreasonable. Under the plain language of former RCW 74.34.020(2)(e)(ii), Huegel did not have to intend to cause injury for a finding of abuse; he only needed to intend to cause unreasonable confinement through use of restraint that he knew was not medically authorized.

Appendix A at 21. In rejecting Huegel's argument that the Board must find that he intended injury, an argument he raises again in his petition, the Court of Appeals' decision properly determined Former RCW 74.34.020(2)(e)under Brown and that unreasonable confinement "exists as its own form of abuse separate from injury." Appendix A at 22. After considering Brown and Crosswhite, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded Mr. Huegel's actions in installing the lower bed rail met the statutory definition of abuse of a vulnerable adult through improper restraint, because Mr. Huegel knew there was no medical authorization permitting the installation. Appendix A at 21-23. That is consistent with prior Court of Appeals decisions applying the definition of abuse under RCW 74.34.020.

Mr. Huegel asserts the Court of Appeals' decision is inconsistent with the Court of Appeals, Division III unpublished case Calabrese v. Dep't of Soc. & Health, where the court determined the appellant did not use improper restraint against a vulnerable adult. Petition For Rev. at 22-24; No. 38854-9-III, 2023 WL 2922172 (Wash. Ct. App. Apr. 13, 2023) (unpublished). The Court of Appeals' opinion does not conflict with *Calabrese* because it is easily distinguishable. In *Calabrese* the restraint at issue was a door loop that prevented the vulnerable adult from opening her door. However, in that case the vulnerable adult was unable to get out of bed or walk without assistances, therefore, the Court of Appeals held placing a loop around a door she could not get to under her own power was not a restraint at all, let alone an unreasonable one. Calabrese, 2023 WL 2922172 at *1, *5. Conversely, in this case, Mr. Huegel knew W.S. might attempt to get out of bed, and that W.S. had recently fallen resulting in hospitalization while trying to do so. VRP at 52, 58, 224; AR at 281-90. Further, in *Calabrese*, the restraint was intended as a protective measure for the appellant's young child from entering, rather than used to restrict the vulnerable adult. Contrarily, Mr. Huegel installed lower bed rail without medical authorization despite the known inherent safety risks. *Id.*; VRP at 53, 106, 110-11, 113, 120, 181-82; AR at 161, 163, 166-68, 195-97, 209-23, 330-31, 333. The Court of Appeals' decision did consider whether Mr. Huegel's actions to install the lower bed rail was for a protective purpose. Appendix A at 22. But unlike the facts in *Calabrese*, the Court of Appeals' analysis properly concluded that Mr. Huegel's installation of the lower bed rails was used against W.S. for the purpose of restraint and was not a protective measure for anyone else. 2023 WL 2922172. Since the cases do not conflict, Mr. Huegel has failed to satisfy RAP 13.4(b)(2), and review should be denied.

B. This Court Should Deny Review Because the Court of Appeals Correctly Followed Statutory Construction Precedents

This Court should deny review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)because the Court of Appeals' decision properly employed statutory construction of former statute RCW 74.34.020(2) and does not contradict any prior Washington State Supreme Court precedent. Courts begin by examining the plain language of the statute. State v. K.L.B., 180 Wn.2d 735, 739, 328 P.3d 886 (2014). "If the statute is unambiguous, meaning it is subject to only one reasonable interpretation, our inquiry ends." Id. In State v. Elgin, this Court held, "[w]e avoid a literal reading of a statute if it would result in unlikely, absurd, or strained consequences. The spirit or purpose of an enactment should prevail over the express but inept wording." 118 Wn.2d 551, 555, 825 P.2d 314 (1992) (citation omitted).

However, this canon of construction must be applied sparingly. Application of the absurd results canon, by its terms, refuses to give effect to the words the legislature has written; it necessarily results in a court disregarding an otherwise plain meaning and inserting or removing statutory language, a task that is decidedly the province of the legislature.

Five Corners Family Farmers v. State, 173 Wn.2d 296, 311, 268 P.3d 892 (2011) (citation omitted) (the court found no absurdity and did not depart from the plain language).

Here, the Legislature expressly stated, "[t]he purpose of chapter 74.34 RCW is to provide the department and law enforcement agencies with the authority to investigate complaints of abandonment, abuse, financial exploitation, or neglect of vulnerable adults and to provide protective services and legal remedies to protect these vulnerable adults." Laws of 1999, ch. 176, §1. It was not an absurd result for the Court of Appeals to conclude Mr. Huegel's actions met the statutory requirements of abuse of a vulnerable adult due to improper use of restraint pursuant to RCW 74.34.020(2)(e). As noted above, the Court of Appeals' decision correctly determined an individual commits abuse against a vulnerable adult if they knowingly used a mechanical restraint without medical

authorization to unreasonably confine the vulnerable adult. Appendix A at 19-23; Former RCW 74.34.020(2)(e)(ii), (15).

Mr. Huegel erroneously alleges that the Court of Appeals' decision's statutory construction of abuse by improper restraint led to an absurd result, and that the dissenting opinion correctly found there was no evidence in the record that Mr. Huegel knew the installation of the bedrail was an unreasonable confinement. Petition For Rev. at 26; Appendix A at 30-31. To the contrary, the Court of Appeals' decision correctly determined that Mr. Huegel knew installing the lower bed rail was an unreasonable confinement because Mr. Huegel "knew he needed medical authorization and did not have it before installing the lower bed rail," as substantially supported in the evidentiary record. Appendix at 22; VRP at 110-11, 120, 181-82; AR at 163, 166-67, 216, 331, 417. Mr. Huegel's failure to ensure medical authorization before installing a lower bed rail, when W.S.'s bed was pushed up against the wall with upper bed rails installed is what created the unreasonable confinement. The Court of Appeals' decision further reasoned it would be unreasonable for a caregiver to rely on a vulnerable adult's family member that they will get medical authorization for a mechanical restraint because:

[i]t is not hard to imagine a situation where a family's desires to use mechanical restraint might conflict with what the vulnerable adult's doctors have concluded is safe or in their best interest. The Department's and the caregiver's responsibility is to the vulnerable adult, not the family, and allowing a loophole for family permission would endanger vulnerable adults.

Appendix A at 23.

Permitting a caregiver to install a mechanical restraint without medical authorization and relying on family members' instructions could lead to dangerous scenarios for vulnerable adults which would conflict with the Legislative intent of RCW 74.34 to protect vulnerable adults from harm. More to the point with respect to Huegel's absurdity argument, the Legislature's decision to require medical authorization before mechanical restraints can be inflicted on vulnerable adults is perfectly rational, as illustrated here by the testimony of W.S.'s treating physician that he would not have authorized the lower bed rails due to safety concerns. It is not absurd for the Legislature to require that mechanical restraints be used only when medically authorized, as opposed to when non-medical providers determine they should be used. VRP at 113; AR at 168, 330, 333. Therefore, the Review Judge and the Court of Appeals properly applied statutory construction precedent by concluding Mr. Huegel knew there was no medical authorization to install the lower bed rail, but he did it anyway, which was an improper restraint of W.S. There is no conflict with this Court's decisions regarding statutory construction and no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), and it is not absurd that Mr. Huegel's actions to install a lower bed rail without medical authorization he knew he needed could result in a finding of abuse. Thus, review should be denied.

C. The Court Should Deny Review Because the Construction of RCW 74.34.020(2) Does Not Present an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Under RAP 13.4(b)(4), there is no issue of substantial interest because the Court of Appeals properly interpreted abuse through the improper use of restraint under RCW 74.34.020(2)(e) and Mr. Huegel's placement on the Vulnerable Adults Abuse Registry is not an issue properly before the court.

Mr. Huegel asserts review of this case presents an issue of substantial public interest because the interpretation of improper restraint would be one of first impression and there is a dearth of legal authority. Petition For Rev. at 14-15. That is simply not true, as Huegel's own citation to and discussion of several Court of Appeals' opinions shows, and this case is very fact specific. And as noted above, the Court of Appeals' analysis of improper restraint is consistent with prior case law interpreting abuse. *Crosswhite*, 197 Wn. App. at 551; *Brown*, 145 Wn. App. at 180-81; Appendix A at 19-23. Further, it is consistent with prior case law interpreting the mechanical restraint component of abuse. *Calabrese*, 2023 WL 2922172, at *1–*5. Thus, there is no need for this Court to address the statute when the Court of Appeals' opinions are consistent, and Mr. Huegel's particularized appeal as to the Court of Appeals' analysis of improper restraint provides no significant issue of substantial public interest.

Next, Mr. Huegel asserts a finding of abuse impacts Mr. Huegel's due process rights because he would be placed on the Vulnerable Adults Abuse Registry, which would prevent him from unsupervised access to vulnerable adults or children. Petition for Rev. at 15; RCW 74.39A.056(2), (3);WAC 388-103-0170; WAC 388-76-10120(3), -10180(1); RCW 26.44.1●●(2)(c), .125(2)(e); WAC 388-06A-0110. However, the effect of placement on the Vulnerable Adults Abuse Registry is not an issue that is appropriately before this court; this case is limited to whether Mr. Huegel's actions meet the definition of abuse under RCW 74.34.020. See CP at 2. If Mr. Huegel would like to contest the permanency of the

Vulnerable Adults Abuse Registry, he may be able to do so in another proceeding, but placement on the registry was not the agency action he contested. *Id*.

Further, the Court of Appeals' decision correctly concluded Mr. Huegel's due process rights were protected in this matter. Appendix A at 25-28. The Court of Appeals' decision below noted Mr. Huegel received notice of the abuse finding and timely requested an administrative hearing less than a month after the notice was issued. Appendix A at 28. At the administrative proceeding, Mr. Huegel was allowed to call witnesses, cross-examine the Department's witnesses, offer exhibits, provide a closing statement, and provided a fair hearing on the merits. Id.; VRP at 1-274. Here, the abuse finding was upheld following a full, fair hearing on the merits where the ALJ considered the argument and evidence presented by the parties, and Mr. Huegel has continued to exercise his right to appeal. Appendix A at 28; AR at 59.

Mr. Huegel's individualized appeal as to the Court of Appeals' analysis of improper restraint presents a specific interest and provides no significant issue of substantial public interest. Nor is that issue regarding whether Mr. Huegel contests the permanency of the Vulnerable Adults Abuse Registry properly before the Court in this case. Finally, Mr. Huegel's due process rights were protected throughout this administrative process. Thus, Mr. Huegel has identified no issue of substantial public interest warranting this Court's review.

V. CONCLUSION

This Court should not accept discretionary review because Mr. Huegel has failed to satisfy the requirements of RAP 13.4(b). Rather than conflict with other Court of Appeals' decisions involving the definition of RCW 74.34.020(2)(e), this case properly interprets improper restraint and is consistent with other Court of Appeals' decisions. Moreover, the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with this Court's statutory construction precedence. It is a fact-specific and individualized analysis that does not create an issue of substantial public interest justifying review.

This Court should deny the petition.

This document contains 4,735 words, excluding the parts

of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.